RECEIVED

Dec 08 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-23-01702
Appellate Case No. 2025-000622

James Loper and Lauren Loper,

Respondents,

v.

John Dolan,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Kenneth G. Southerlin, Jr.
S.C. Bar No. 71891
Upstate Legal Solutions, LLC
P.O. Box 765
Travelers Rest, SC 29690
864-354-6689
attorneysoutherlin@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the trial court err in failing to either find that the First Judgment Order and the entry of default were both void for lack of service of process or hold an evidentiary hearing on the facts of service of process?**
- 2. Did the trial court err by requiring the Appellant prove fraud in order to successfully show that service of process did not occur?**
- 3. Did the trial court err in relying on an unauthenticated document as part of its reasoning in finding service of process was sufficient?**
- 4. Did the trial court err in making a factual finding as to a disputed material fact on affidavits alone without holding an evidentiary hearing?**
- 5. Did the trial court err in applying a Rule 60(b), SCRCP (other than Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCP) analysis to Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCP?**
- 6. Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's Rule 12 Motions to Dismiss without hearing arguments?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of the case are as follows.

According to the trial court's records, Respondent commenced this action on April 1, 2022 with the filing of a summons and complaint naming Appellant as a defendant along with five other persons as co-defendants. The complaint stated causes of action against the Appellant that involved allegations of breach of contract and negligence.

Respondent filed an affidavit of service on May 11, 2022 purporting to show that a private process server named Kenn Doster served Appellant with the summons and complaint on May 7, 2022 at 10:37 am at the address of 104 Fawn Ridge Way; Mauldin, SC 29662. The affidavit of service also indicated two prior unsuccessful attempts at service on April 27, 2022 at the address of 240 Old River Rd.; Pelzer, SC 29669 and on May 3, 2022 at the address of 104 Farm Ridge Way, Mauldin, SC 29662.

The owner of 104 Farm Ridge Way; Mauldin, SC 29662 at the time of the purported service was Mary Jane C. Parks, Appellant's sister. She sold the property to a third party on June 14, 2022.

The affidavit of service contained identifying characteristics attributed to the individual who was served, describing that person as being five foot nine inches tall and having blue eyes.

The Appellant's driver's license, issued in the year 2020, describes Appellant as being five foot six inches tall and having brown eyes. It also shows Appellant's address to be 133 3rd Street; Greenville, SC 29661.

According to the trial court's records, Respondent filed an affidavit of default as to Appellant on June 15, 2022. An order of default was thereafter entered by the trial court on June 22, 2022.

According to the trial court's records, a damages hearing was held on August 2, 2023 at 10:30 am. Notice of the damages hearing was purportedly mailed on July 21, 2023 to 104 Farm Ridge Way; Mauldin SC 29662. Following the damages hearing the trial court awarded Respondent a default judgment against Appellant in the amount of Thirty-Nine Thousand, Seventy-Nine Dollars (\$39,079.00). An order to that effect was entered on August 15, 2023 ("First Default Judgment Order").

According to the trial court's records, on September 27, 2023 Respondents filed a stipulation of dismissal as to all other defendants.

Respondents filed a second case (*James Loper and Lauren Loper vs. John Dolan*, 2024-CP-23-01046) against Appellant on February 19, 2024 seeking to foreclose the aforementioned First Default Judgment Order. Appellant was served with the summons and complaint in the foreclosure action on March 23, 2024 at Appellant's home address of 133 3rd Street; Greenville, SC 29661. Appellant then retained counsel and filed an answer and counter-claim in the foreclosure case on April 22, 2024.

Appellant filed a motion to vacate a default judgment in the present case along with supporting affidavits from himself and from his wife, Sharon Caulder, on April 19, 2024.

Respondent filed an affidavit of Carolyn Denney, Respondent's counsel's paralegal, on July 15, 2024.

Appellant filed a second affidavit from himself on July 16, 2024.

A hearing was held on Appellant's motion on July 17, 2024. The trial court entered a Form 4 Order containing its rulings from said hearing on July 22, 2024 ("July 2024 Order"). In said order the trial court granted Appellant's motion to vacate as to the default judgment. The order

denied Appellant's request to be allowed to file an answer and instead confirmed the Appellant's default. The order also ordered that a second damages hearing be held.

Appellant filed a motion to reconsider on July 25, 2024 ("First Motion to Reconsider"). Judge Gravely denied the motion for reconsideration on August 5, 2024 without a hearing.

On October 31, 2024, Appellant filed motions to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(B)(5), SCRCF alleging insufficiency of service of process, Rule 12(B)(2), SCRCF alleging lack of personal jurisdiction, and a request for an evidentiary hearing (collectively "Rule 12 Motions to Dismiss"). After two continuances, the motions were scheduled to be heard on February 14, 2025 at the same time as the second damages hearing was scheduled.

On February 14, 2025, at the call of the case Judge Gravely denied Appellant's Rule 12 Motions to Dismiss without hearing arguments. The trial court entered a Form 4 Order denying the motions on February 14, 2025. Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration on February 20, 2025, which was denied by a Form 4 Order on February 21, 2025 without a hearing.

At the hearing on February 14, 2025, the trial court heard testimony regarding damages and issued a judgment against Appellant in the amount of Eighty-Four Thousand, One Hundred Forty Four Dollars and 97/100s (\$84,144.79). The order from the second damages hearing was entered on March 5, 2025 ("Second Default Judgment Order").

Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration on March 6, 2025, which was denied by a Form 4 Order on March 25, 2025 without a hearing.

This appeal was timely filed and served on April 1, 2025.

ARGUMENTS

Standard of Review

Findings of fact made by the trial court regarding the validity of service of process are reviewed by the appellate court under an abuse of discretion standard. *Fassett v. Evans*, 364 S.C. 42, 49, 610 S.E.2d 841, 845 (Ct. App. 2004)(“The power to set aside a default judgment is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court whose decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion.”), *Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 294-295, 721 S.E.2d 430, 432 (2012)(“The trial court’s findings of fact regarding validity of service of process are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.”), and *Clark v. Key*, 304 S.C. 497, 405 S.E.2d 599 (1991). “The trial judge's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997); *see also Tri-County Ice & Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co.*, 303 S.C. 237, 399 S.E.2d 779, (1990); and *Richardson Construction Company, Inc. v. Meek Engineering and Construction, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 307, 262 S.E.2d 913 (1980).

- 1. Did the trial court err in failing to either find that the First Judgment Order and the entry of default were both void for lack of service of process or hold an evidentiary hearing on the facts of service of process?**

Appellant’s motion to vacate the default judgment was brought under Rule 60(4), SCRPC on the grounds that the First Default Judgment Order entered in on August 15, 2023 was void for lack of service of process as required under Rule 4, SCRPC. “Rule 4, SCRPC, serves at least two purposes. It confers personal jurisdiction on the court and assures the defendant of reasonable

notice of the action.” *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 552, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006)(quoting *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 209, 456 S.E.2d 897, 890 (1995)). The failure to comply with Rule 4, SCRCF, makes any subsequent order void for lack of personal jurisdiction. *Id.*

“The definition of void under the rule only encompasses judgments from courts which failed to provide proper due process, or judgments from courts which lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.” *Belle Hall Plantation Home Owner’s Association, Inc. v. Murry*, 419 S.C. 605, 617, 799 S.E.2d 310, 316 (2017)(citations omitted).

The Court has “never required exacting compliance with the rules to effect service of process.” *Roche* 318 S.C. at 209-210, 456 S.E.2d at 899. “Rather, we inquire whether the plaintiff has sufficiently complied with the rules that the court has personal jurisdiction of the defendant and the defendant has proper notice of the proceedings.” *Id.*

“Further, an [Officer’s] return of process creates the legal presumption of proper service that cannot be ‘impeached by the mere denial of service by the defendant.’” *Fassett* 364 S.C. at 47, 610 S.E.2d at 844 (quoting *Richardson Construction Company, Inc.* 274 S.C. at 311, 262 S.E.2d at 916). While the affidavit of process creates a legal presumption of proper service requiring more than a denial by the defendant that does not mean the affidavit of service cannot be challenged or that the bar to such a challenge is so high as to make such a challenge impossible. “An affidavit of service is Prima facie evidence of service which may be impeached by extrinsic evidence.” *Richardson Construction Company, Inc.* 274 S.C. at 311, 262 S.E.2d at 916.

In Appellant’s first affidavit, he asserts more than a mere denial. (R.O.A. pp. 61-63). First, Appellant asserts that the affidavit of service is intrinsically flawed because the identifying characteristics contained in the affidavit do not match those of the Appellant. *Id.* Appellant

focused on two specific characteristics that are nearly immutable: height and eye color. *Id.* The purpose of including identifying characteristics in an affidavit of service is obviously to enhance the veracity of the affidavit. If the characteristics do not apply to the person they are meant to describe, the affidavit, itself, is inherently flawed. When an affidavit of service itself is materially defective, the affidavit should be considered void on its face. *Cannon v. Haverty Furniture Co.*, 179 S.C. 1, 1, 183 S.E. 469, 473 (1935). A void affidavit of service would not give the trial court jurisdiction over the Appellant. *Id.*

In addition to his denial and the inherent flaw of the affidavit of service, Appellant provided additional extrinsic evidence that runs contrary to the affidavit of service. (R.O.A. pp. 61-63). Appellant asserts that he did not live at 104 Farm Ridge Way; Mauldin SC 29662 on the date and time described by the affidavit. (R.O.A. p. 61). He provided a copy of his driver's license showing a different address. (R.O.A. p. 62). He further stated that 104 Farm Ridge Way was owned by his sister and that he was not there that day. (R.O.A. p. 62). He further stated he was working at a jobsite and how he remembered being there on that date. (R.O.A. p. 62).

Appellant also provided an affidavit from wife, who was his fiancé at the time of the purported service, who stated that Appellant was not at the location of the purported service at the date and time indicated on the affidavit of service. (R.O.A. p. 65). She also stated that the reason she knew he was not at that location was because she was with him that day and that they were at a worksite. (R.O.A. p. 65).

Appellant also filed with the trial court an affidavit from his sister confirming that she was the owner of 104 Farm Ridge Way; Mauldin SC 29662 at that time. (R.O.A. p. 66). Her affidavit also states that Appellant did not live at that address during the time of the purported service and specifically stated that Appellant was not at her address on the date and time indicated on the

affidavit of service. (R.O.A. p. 66). Finally, Appellant also filed an affidavit with the trial court from John E. Walton, M.D. stating that the Appellant was working for him at the date and time of the purported service at his house located at 4005 Blue Ridge Circle; Greer SC 29651. (R.O.A. p. 67).

The affidavits of Appellant's sister and Dr. Watson were filed after the trial court's hearing on Appellant's Motion to Vacate and were not considered by the trial court in its decision. (R.O.A. p. 3).

Appellant provided evidence sufficient to impeach Respondent's affidavit of service. The trial court acknowledges this impeachment in its July 2024 Order when it states: "The Defendant has raised some questions about the service..." (R.O.A. p. 3). Instead of relieving Appellant of the entry of default or ordering an evidentiary hearing to give due process to the questions raised about the service, the trial court leaped to confirm service of process. (R.O.A. p. 3).

Respondent presented no evidence to support service of process other than the affidavit of service itself and an unauthenticated note. Appellant argued the sufficiency of its evidence and the lack of any evidence supporting service of process that was not impeached or unauthenticated at the hearing and in its subsequent motion for reconsideration. (Transcript of Hearing from July 17, 2024 p. 4-7, R.O.A. p.32-35, Motion to Reconsider Court's Order Denying Motion to Vacate Default Judgment p.1, R.O.A. p. 46). Based on the questions raised by Appellant the trial court should have either allowed Appellant to file an Answer or ordered an evidentiary hearing to take in-person testimony on the issue of service.

The facts of the present case are analogous to those of *Laurens Trust Co. v. Copeland*, 154 S.C. 390, 151 S.E. 617 (1930). In *Laurens Trust Co.*, "Laurens Trust Company obtained a judgment by default against E.W. Copeland and his wife, Lizzie H. Copeland...." *Id.* at 390, 618.

The summons and complaint were filed on December 4, 1924 and an affidavit of proof of service was filed on December 31, 1924. *Id.* A motion to set aside the default judgment was filed on May 31, 1928 on the grounds that the defendants were never served. *Id.* After hearing arguments at an initial hearing on the motion, the trial judge, Judge Featherstone, referred the case to the Honorable Frank P. McGowan “to take the testimony in the case and report the same to the court.” *Id.* The testimony provided conflicting evidence regarding whether service of process had actually occurred. *Id.* The Court states: “The return of this offer is only *prima facie* evidence of the facts therein stated, but this affidavit of service has been impeached by extrinsic evidence, and the proof of its falsity has been clearly and convincingly established.” *Id.*

In the present case, there is evidence that the affidavit is false on the face of the affidavit, and there is extrinsic evidence contradicting the affidavit. The trial court committed an abuse of discretion by jumping to the conclusion that the First Default Judgment Order and the entry of default were not void for lack of service in the face of an impeached affidavit of service and no other credible evidence to support service of process. At the very least, the trial court should have ordered an evidentiary hearing as was done in *Laurens Trust Co.* before issuing an order confirming the entry of default in the face of contradictory evidence.

2. Did the trial court err by requiring the Appellant prove fraud in order to successfully show that service of process did not occur?

The trial court’s July 2024 Order states: “To accept the Defendant’s position, the Court would have to find that someone was impersonating the Defendant or perpetrating a fraud on him, but there is no evidence of this.” (R.O.A. p. 3).

Appellant’s motion to vacate default judgment was brought under Rule 60(b)(4) SCRCP on the grounds that the judgment was void as previously discussed. Appellant’s motion was not

brought on the grounds of fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party, which is Rule 60(b)(3) SCRCF. (R.O.A. p. 44).

In requiring that the Appellant prove fraud in order to show service did not occur, the trial court adds a new element to the Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCF analysis. This additional requirement makes proving that service did not occur nearly impossible. Under the trial court's standard, a defendant would have to file a motion to vacate default judgment immediately upon learning of the existence of a default judgment and prove fraud solely by affidavit without an opportunity to cross-examine witnesses. In addition, such a defendant must do that without the benefit of any discovery. Such a bar would be impossible to reach.

The correct standard would be to acknowledge that a plaintiff bears the burden of properly serving a defendant. Rule 4, SCRCF. Plaintiff also bears the burden of proving service of process. *Christian v. Healy*, 435 S.C. 507, 511, 868 S.E.2d 403, 405 (2021). Filing a sworn affidavit signed by a private process server is *prima facie* evidence of proper service. *Richardson Construction Company, Inc.*, 274 S.C. at 311, 262 S.E.2d at 915.

While being *prima facie* evidence, such an affidavit of service can be impeached by extrinsic evidence. *Id.* Once an affidavit of service is impeached, the *prima facie* evidence aspect of the affidavit of service no longer exists; therefore, the burden of proving service of process would shift back to the plaintiff. *Laurens Trust Co.*, 154 S.C. at 390, 151 S.E. at 618. The court would need to hold an evidentiary hearing to allow the plaintiff to prove service of process in the same way other facts are proven while giving the defendant an opportunity to cross-examine its witnesses and prove its own facts. *Id.*

The trial court abused its discretion by requiring Appellant prove fraud as part of a Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCF analysis rather than just requiring that Appellant impeach the affidavit of service.

3. Did the trial court err in relying on an unauthenticated document as part of its reasoning in finding service of process was sufficient?

The trial court cites an unauthenticated document in support of its ruling that service of process was sufficient. The July 2024 Order states: “Further, Plaintiff submitted an affidavit from Plaintiff’s counsel’s paralegal that shortly after the Defendant was purportedly served, she received a written note from John Dolan acknowledging receipt of the complaint and indicated that he was ‘seeking legal council {sic}.’” (R.O.A. p. 3). At the July 17, 2024 hearing on Appellant’s motion to vacate default judgment, Appellant’s counsel argued that the note was not signed or dated. (R.O.A. p. 34). Specifically, counsel for Appellant stated: “There’s no date on that letter. There’s no address on that letter. There’s no signature on that letter.” (R.O.A. p. 34). Appellant’s counsel reiterated its argument that the document was not signed or dated in Appellant’s First Motion to Reconsider. (R.O.A. p. 46).

The rules of evidence provide a clear standard as to what documents can be considered as evidence by the finder of fact. “The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Rule 901, SCRE. “A party offering evidence must meet ‘{t}he requirement of authentication as a condition precedent to admissibility.’” *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610-611 (Ct. App. 2015).

The document authentication requirement set forth in Rule 901, SCRE applies to documents presented at motion hearings. *McMillian Pazdan Smith, LLC v. Mattison*, 445 SC 35, 56, 911 S.E.2d 412, 423 (Ct. App. 2024)(“It is well established that unsworn, unauthenticated documents cannot be considered on a motion for summary judgment.”)(quoting *Orsi v. Kirkwood*, 999 F.2d 86, 92 (4th Cir. 1993)). “In particular, a letter ‘must be attached to an affidavit

and authenticated by its author in the affidavit or a deposition.” *Orsi v. Kirkwood*, 999 F.2d 86, 92 (4th Cir. 1993) (citations omitted.)

In the July 2024 Order, the document referred to as a “note” and described as coming from Appellant was presented to the trial court by affidavit of Respondent’s counsel’s paralegal, not the “note’s” author. (R.O.A. p. 3). The document is not signed, not dated, not sworn, and not attached to an affidavit claiming authorship. (R.O.A. p. 71). To the contrary, Appellant specifically states in his second affidavit that he did not write that document. (R.O.A. p. 64).

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