RECEIVED

Feb 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2022-CP-23-01702
Appellate Case No.: 2025-000622

James Loper and Lauren Loper.....Respondents,

v.

John Dolan.....Appellant.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY SERVED AND PROPERLY DECLINED TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT ON SERVICE GROUNDS

A. Presumption of Proper Service Arises from a Sworn Return

The circuit court correctly determined that a presumption of proper service arose in this case because the Respondents complied with the requirements of Rule 4, SCRCF, by filing a facially valid, sworn affidavit of service.

Under South Carolina law, a plaintiff may effect service upon an individual by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the person personally. Rule 4(g), SCRCF, requires that the person serving the process make proof of service thereof to the court promptly. Once a plaintiff files a sworn return of service, a legal presumption of proper service is created.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals has held that this presumption of proper service “cannot be impeached by the mere denial of service by the defendant”. *Fassett v. Evans*, 364 S.C. at 47, 610 S.E.2d at 844 (Ct. App. 2005). To impeach a return of service, a litigant must provide competent extrinsic proof that service was not effected; a self-serving affidavit is insufficient as a matter of law. *See Richardson v. P.V. Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 616, 682 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2009).

In the present case, the Respondents filed an Affidavit of Service on May 11, 2022

(ROA p. 60). This sworn document, signed by a private process server, reflected that Dolan was personally served on May 7, 2022, at an address in Mauldin, South Carolina (ROA p. 60). Although Dolan submitted affidavits from himself and family members disputing his physical description, specifically his height and eye color, these filings amount to the very “mere denials” rejected in *Fassett* and *Richardson Construction* (ROA p. 65, 66). Dolan failed to present any objective, third-party evidence to prove he was not at the location at the time of service, and the circuit court properly found that his affidavits did not rebut the legal presumption created by the sworn return (ROA p. 60).

Because the Respondents provided a sworn return of service and Dolan failed to provide competent proof to the contrary, the circuit court acted within its discretion in finding that service was valid and personal jurisdiction was established

B. Dolan’s Subsequent Participation Waived Any Jurisdictional Objection

Even if service had been improper, the circuit court correctly maintained jurisdiction because Dolan waived any jurisdictional objections by voluntarily and extensively participating in the litigation following the entry of default.

Under Rule 12(h)(1), SCRCF, a defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person or insufficiency of service of process is waived if it is omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in Rule 12(g), or if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading. Furthermore, Rule 4(d), SCRCF, provides that a “voluntary appearance by a defendant is equivalent to personal service”.

These rules establish that personal jurisdiction is a waivable right that must be asserted at the earliest procedural opportunity. *See Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 620, 576 S.E.2d 156, 160 (2003) (noting that personal-jurisdiction objections are waived

unless timely raised). When a party seeks affirmative relief or participates in the merits of a case without strictly reserving a jurisdictional objection, they submit to the court's authority as a matter of law. *See* Rule 12(h)(1), SCRCF.

Dolan's conduct in this litigation falls squarely within these waiver provisions. The record reflects that Dolan did not merely contest service; he engaged in active, multi-front litigation. The circuit court specifically noted that Dolan had acknowledged the litigation in writing shortly after service was first attempted in 2022 (ROA p. 4). Following the entry of default, and after being served in a related foreclosure action on March 23, 2024, Dolan filed an Answer and Counterclaims in that matter and subsequently filed five separate motions for reconsideration and dismissal in the underlying case (ROA pp. 44, 46, 48, 52, 55).

By filing these pleadings and seeking affirmative relief rather than strictly appearing specially to contest jurisdiction, Dolan's conduct became "equivalent to personal service" under Rule 4(d). The circuit court properly determined that this extensive participation precluded Dolan from seeking "another bite at the apple" regarding service (ROA pp. 5-7). Consequently, Dolan's active engagement with the court's processes waived any jurisdictional objection and confirmed the court's authority over him.

Because Dolan's extensive post-default participation constitutes a waiver of jurisdictional defects as a matter of law, the circuit court's exercise of jurisdiction was proper and should be affirmed.

C. The Circuit Court's Finding of Valid Service is Entitled to Deference

The circuit court's factual determination that Dolan was validly served is supported by competent evidence in the record and, under the applicable deferential standard of

review, must be affirmed.

In South Carolina, factual findings concerning the validity of service of process are entitled to deference on appeal and will not be disturbed unless they are unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *See Clark v. Key*, 304 S.C. 497, 499, 405 S.E.2d 599, 600 (1991). This deferential standard applies in the Rule 60(b) context, where the circuit court is tasked with resolving disputed issues of service and notice. *See Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 294–95, 721 S.E.2d 430, 432 (2012).

As the Court of Appeals has explained, “questions of fact arising on a motion to quash service of process for lack of jurisdiction of the person of the defendant are to be determined by the court.” *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 523, 473 S.E.2d 64, 67 (Ct. App. 1996) (quoting *Lawson v. Jeter*, 243 S.C. 103, 132 S.E.2d 276 (1963)). Accordingly, where the circuit court resolves conflicting evidence regarding service, its factual determinations are entitled to deference on appeal.

Here, the circuit court evaluated the competing evidence, including the private process server’s sworn affidavit of personal service (ROA p. 60) and the affidavits submitted by Dolan and his family members disputing the physical description of the person served (ROA pp. 65–66). Following an evidentiary hearing on July 17, 2024, the court issued a detailed order finding that service was sufficient and that Dolan’s affidavits failed to rebut the presumption of proper service (ROA p. 2). Because the record contains competent evidence supporting service, the circuit court’s finding satisfies the evidentiary threshold for affirmance.

Accordingly, because the circuit court’s finding of valid service is supported by the record and reflects no error of law or abuse of discretion, its exercise of personal jurisdiction should be upheld.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED DOLAN’S RULE 60(b) MOTION BECAUSE HE FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE A BASIS FOR RELIEF.

A. Rule 60(b)(4) Does Not Apply Because the Judgment Was Not Void

The circuit court correctly denied Dolan’s motion under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCF, because the underlying judgment was not “void”; the court possessed both subject matter jurisdiction over the claims and personal jurisdiction over Dolan through valid service of process.

Under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCF, a court may relieve a party from a final judgment if “the judgment is void.” In South Carolina, a judgment is void only if the court that rendered it lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction. *See BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. at 551-552, S.E.2d at 503 (2006). A judgment is not void simply because it may be erroneous or because a party disagrees with the court’s factual findings. *See McDaniel v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 324 S.C. at 644, 478 S.E.2d 871 (Ct. App. 1996).

The distinction between a void judgment and one that is merely voidable is critical. If a court has the power to determine a case, any error in the exercise of that power must be corrected via a timely appeal or a motion under other subsections of Rule 60(b), such as excusable neglect. *See Thomas & Howard Co. v. T.W. Graham and Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995). For a judgment to be void for lack of personal jurisdiction, there must be a total failure of service that was not otherwise waived or cured.

Improper service of process implicates Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCF, rather than Rule 60(b)(1), because a judgment entered without personal jurisdiction is void. *See Fassett v. Evans*, 364 S.C. 42, 47–48, 610 S.E.2d 841, 843–44 (Ct. App. 2005) (explaining that the proper ground to challenge a default judgment based on ineffective service is Rule 60(b)(4)). Where service of process is proper, however, Rule 60(b)(4) relief is

unavailable as a matter of law. *See id.*

Dolan's motion to vacate rested entirely on his assertion that the 2023 judgment was void for lack of service (ROA p. 44). However, as established in Argument I, the circuit court made a factual finding, supported by a sworn Affidavit of Service, that Dolan was personally served on May 7, 2022 (ROA p. 1). Because the court found that service was properly effected, it necessarily possessed personal jurisdiction at the time the default was entered (ROA p. 1). Furthermore, since the court had subject matter jurisdiction over the breach of contract and negligence claims, the resulting judgment was legally valid (ROA p. 1). Because jurisdiction existed, the judgment cannot be void as a matter of law, and Rule 60(b)(4) is inapplicable.

Because the judgment was not void, the court properly denied relief under Rule 60(b)(4).

B. The Trial Court Properly Applied the Rule 60(b) Standard, Not the Lesser “Good-Cause” Test of Rule 55(c)

The circuit court correctly analyzed Dolan's motion under the rigorous standards of Rule 60(b) because a final judgment had already been entered; the more lenient “good cause” standard of Rule 55(c) was no longer available to him as a matter of law.

Under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the standard for setting aside an entry of default is “good cause” pursuant to Rule 55(c), SCRPC. However, once that default has ripened into a final judgment, a party seeking relief must meet the higher threshold of Rule 60(b), SCRPC, which requires a showing of “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.” *See Ricks v. Weinrauch*, 293 S.C. 372, 374, 360 S.E.2d 535, 536 (Ct. App. 1987).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has clarified that these two rules are not interchangeable. While Rule 55(c) is interpreted liberally to provide relief from the

“procedural act” of an entry of default, Rule 60(b) is applied more strictly to preserve the finality of written judgments. *See Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Group, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009). Once an Order for Default Judgment is signed and filed, the “good cause” standard is superseded by the requirements of Rule 60(b).

In this matter, the clerk entered Dolan’s default on June 22, 2022 . Over a year later, on August 15, 2023, the circuit court entered a formal Order Granting Default Judgment. Dolan did not move to vacate until April 19, 2024, nearly eight months after the final judgment was entered and almost two years after the initial default (ROA p. 44). Because a final judgment was of record, the circuit court correctly determined that Dolan was required to prove one of the specific grounds for relief under Rule 60(b), such as excusable neglect, rather than the lower “good cause” threshold (ROA p. 1). Dolan’s failure to act until a foreclosure action was initiated against him demonstrates a lack of the diligence required under the Rule 60(b) standard.

Because the litigation had reached the stage of a final judgment long before Dolan appeared, the circuit court properly applied the Rule 60(b) standard. Its decision to deny relief based on that standard should be affirmed.

C. Dolan Failed to Establish Excusable Neglect or Any Other Equitable Ground for Relief

The circuit court acted within its sound discretion in finding that Dolan failed to establish excusable neglect. Relief under Rule 60(b)(1), SCRPC, is available only upon a showing of “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect,” and the movant bears the burden of demonstrating entitlement to such relief. *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Group, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607–08, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009).

South Carolina courts have consistently held that neglect which is willful, deliberate, or the product of conscious indifference does not constitute excusable

neglect. *See Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 310, 547 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 2001). A motion for relief from judgment is an appeal to the equitable discretion of the court and is governed by the principle that “nothing can call equity into activity but conscience, good faith, and diligence.” *Hemingway v. Mention*, 228 S.C. 211, 215, 89 S.E.2d 369, 371 (1955).

In exercising that discretion, the circuit court was entitled to consider Dolan’s prolonged inaction and lack of diligence in responding to the litigation. Delay and indifference to the legal process weigh heavily against a finding of excusable neglect and support denial of Rule 60(b) relief. *See Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 607–08, 681 S.E.2d at 888.

The record of Dolan’s conduct, defined by months of silence and a failure to respond until his assets were at risk, cannot be reconciled with the standard of reasonable diligence. Even if the court were to look past the May 2022 service (ROA p. 60), Dolan remained silent throughout the entry of default in June 2022 and the subsequent damages hearing leading to the August 2023 Order. Most telling, Dolan did not move to vacate until April 19, 2024, nearly eight months after the final judgment was entered and almost two years after the initial default (ROA p. 44). Under South Carolina law, the promptness with which a party seeks relief is a ‘primary factor’ that the court must consider when determining if a judgment should be set aside. *See Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 510–11, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct. App. 2001).

Dolan’s choice to wait until a foreclosure action was initiated against him, months after the finality of the underlying judgment, fails this requirement of promptness. *See id.* at 511, 548 S.E.2d at 226. Such a delay demonstrates a lack of the diligence required under the Rule 60(b) standard.

D. Policy Considerations Favor Finality of Judgments

The circuit court's refusal to vacate the judgment aligns with South Carolina's strong public policy favoring the finality of judicial proceedings and the security of legal titles.

South Carolina law recognizes that there must be an end to litigation. The judicial policy of this state is to favor the finality of judgments. *See Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 510, 548 S.E.2d 223, 225 (Ct. App. 2001). While the courts prefer to decide cases on their merits, this preference must be balanced against the necessity of ensuring that judgments are settled and reliable. *See Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedje Group, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607–08, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009).

The rules governing relief from judgment (Rule 60) are intended to be extraordinary remedies. If every defendant could ignore a lawsuit and then demand a “do-over” years later without a showing of strict compliance with the rules, the legal system would become unpredictable. *See Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 495, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992). The burden is therefore on the party seeking to upset the status quo to show that the judgment is truly unjust or void.

In this case, the Respondents have relied on the validity of their judgment for years, moving from the initial complaint to a damages hearing, a writ of execution, and finally a foreclosure action. To set aside a judgment after such a lengthy procedural history, and after Dolan sat on his rights for nearly two years, would undermine the finality that Respondents and the court system are entitled to rely upon (ROA p. 3). Granting relief under these circumstances would reward Dolan's delay and prejudice the Respondents, who have spent significant time and resources enforcing their validly obtained award (ROA p. 3).

Because the interest in finality outweighs Dolan's untimely and unsupported request for relief, the circuit court's decision to maintain the judgment was a proper exercise of discretion.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE DAMAGES AWARD WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

The circuit court's award of damages must be affirmed because it was based on competent evidence presented during the damages hearing, and Dolan, by virtue of his default, is precluded from challenging the underlying liability.

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